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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200114848
AWCB Decision No. 10-0018
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on January 28, 2010


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim on November 13, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee Nellie V. Pennington represented herself (employee).  Attorney Elise Rose represented the employer and its carrier (employer).  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
The employee contends her August 4, 2001 work injury is a substantial factor in her current neck, back, shoulder, leg and left foot pain, and bilateral hand pain, and need for medical treatment after January 2007.  The employer contends the work injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current back and left leg pain, based on Dr. Bald’s March 17, 2007 employer’s medical evaluation (EME) and Dr. Lipon’s August 22, 2009  second independent medical evaluation (SIME) and therefore, the employee is not entitled to ongoing medical benefits after January 2007.

1. Is the employee entitled to continuing medical benefits?

The employee claims permanent total disability (PTD) for her work injuries.  The employer contends the employee waived her right to all benefits, except future medical benefits, in the June 24, 2003 Compromise and Release Agreement (C&R).

2. Is the employee’s claim for PTD benefits precluded by the June 24, 2003 C&R?

FINDINGS OF FACT
Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 available in the record, the following findings of fact are made:

1. On August 8, 2001, the employee filed a Report of Injury stating she had injured both wrists at work with the employer through repetitive use of her hands using knives, by turning and making boxes, and lifting, and packing filets.

2. On August 4, 2001, the employee reported to the clinic at King Cove and was examined by S. Galway, ANP-C.
  The employee told the ANP a loaded pallet jack was pushed into her left lower leg, causing medial movement of her left lower leg and supination movement of her left foot.  The ANP took the employee off work until August 5th and diagnosed the employee with 2nd degree sprain of her left ankle.”
  The employee was examined by ANP Galway again on August 5th and August 6th , when she also reported back, neck, bilateral arms, and left leg pain.
  On August 6 the ANP took the employee off work indefinitely.
  

3. On August 8, 2001, the employee was examined by Margaret Cronin, M.D., at First Care Medical Centers in Anchorage.
  The employee complained of carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) symptoms and told Dr. Cronin she had an old injury that was acting up again with repetitive use at work.  The employee complained of pain in her wrists and hands.   Dr. Cronin referred the employee to Loren Jensen, M.D. for evaluation.  The employee also stated she had fallen backwards at work and landed on her low back.
  With regard to the incident, the employee complained she had back pain, lower and upper, although the majority of her pain on August 4th was in her ankle.  The employee stated over the weekend pain developed in her neck and low back.  Dr. Cronin ordered x-rays of the employee’s lumbar spine, which showed well-maintained posterior alignment and vertebral body heights, with a slight pelvic tilt to the right, and with intact pars.
  No acute bony abnormality was noted.
  Dr. Cronin noted the employee was a small woman who moved stiffly and whose pain seemed a bit out of proportion to exam.
  Dr. Cronin diagnosed cervical strain, low back strain with sciatica, and ankle sprain.  She also expressed concern about secondary gain because of the employee’s query about her separate CTS WCC and whether she should see a lawyer for wrongful termination and the fact this was her third WCC.

4. On August 10, 2001, the employee was examined by Loren Jensen, M.D., for bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome in her wrists.
  Subsequently, the employee continued to treat with Dr. Jensen for her CTS.  Previously, the employee had been diagnosed with bilateral CTS on May 5, 1999, by Lorenzo Walker, M.D.
  

5. On August 10, 2001, the employee also began physical therapy for cervical and back strain at United Physical Therapy, as prescribed by Dr. Cronin.
  The employee noted she had had a cervical fusion three years previously.  The employee was to attend physical therapy three times per week for a period of several weeks.  On August 16, 2001, the employee stated she still had pain in the left half of her skull and left neck pain, with left upper chest tenderness.  The employee also complained of left leg dysthesias down to her left ankle.
  

6. On August 15, 2001, the employee filed a Report of Injury stating she had injured her left foot and back in the course of her work with Employer.  The employee alleged she injured her back on about August 4, 2001, in the course of her employment with the employer.
  The employee was working on a line behind a table with rollers, when the table was struck with a pallet jack and was pushed forcefully into her, causing her to fall backwards.  Her leg was caught between a pallet and a leg of the table, and she was jerked forward.  The employee felt immediate pain in her left anterior foot.  She reported to a clinic, where a nurse determined she did not have a fracture.  The employee was provided with medications, and she returned to work.

7. On August 20, 2001, the employee underwent cervical and thoracic x-rays at First Care Medical Centers.  The employee stated she had fallen backward two weeks earlier, had pain in her elbows initially, then developed pain in her neck and back and numbness in the left arm.
  John McCormick, M.D., found a normal thoracic spine and postoperative changes in the upper cervical spine, with a slight reversal of cervical lordosis and insignificant calcifications.
  Dr. McCormick found an old sliver of bone in the anterior cervical spine, and opined the old injury did not seem compatible with current injury.”

8. On August 28, 2001, the employee was evaluated by Francine Pulver, M.D., of Rehabilitation Medicine Associates for diffuse pain complaints following a fall at work on August 8, 2001.
  The employee stated she had fallen at work, and she complained of pain in multiple areas.  Dr. Pulver noted it was somewhat difficult to get clear details in relation to these.  The employee complained of upper back, neck and left arm pain that extended down to her elbow but did not go into her hand.  The employee reported the pain from a 1994 C1-C2 fusion had gotten worse since her fall in August.
  She also reported a history of anxiety.  Dr. Pulver noted x-rays of the employee’s cervical spine, lumbar spine, and left foot were normal.  Dr. Pulver opined the employee’s multiple pain complaints appeared largely myofascial in nature.
  She recommended a comprehensive cervical and lumbar spine rehabilitation program and an MRI of the employee’s lumbar and cervical spine, plus possible electrodiagnostic testing.  Dr. Pulver renewed the employee’s prescriptions for the pain medications Vioxx
 and Ultram
.

9. On August 29, 2001, the employee reported to the emergency room of Providence Alaska Medical Center and was examined by John Hanley, M.D.,
 after Dr. Pulver had declined to see the employee earlier that day.
  The employee complained to Dr. Hanley of numbness in her right arm as well as headache and discomfort in her right neck.
  The employee reported the onset of symptoms was after a motor vehicle accident in the recent past.  The doctor’s diagnosis was cervical radiculopathy and anxiety.  He prescribed Ativan
 and recommended follow-up with Dr. Pervier after the scheduled MRIs.
  The employee’s August 30, 2001 cervical MRI demonstrated diffuse mild degenerative cervical disc disease without a herniated nucleus pulposus (HNP), and with no evidence of neural impingement.
  The lumbar MRI of the same day showed degenerative lumbar disc and facet joint disease without HNP or evidence of neural impingement.
 

10. On August 31, 2001, the employee was evaluated by physical therapist (PT) Douglas Caylor on referral from Dr. Pulver.
  PT Caylor noted the employee demonstrated a great deal of guarding throughout the cervical spine, trunk, and lower extremities.  She reported her injury occurred when she fell backwards over a pallet, and her left leg was caught between a roller table and the pallet, which twisted her left ankle into eversion,
 and she fell and hit her back on the ground.  He indicated the initial treatment would consist of soft tissue work, modalities and light movement exercises, progressing into more of an exercise program, then ultimately a home exercise program.

11. On September 4, 2001, the employee saw Dr. Jensen for followup of her CTS and noted the employee agreed to proceed with surgery.
  On September 26, 2001, the employee was examined again by Dr. Pulver.
  The employee presented again with ongoing neck, low back, and left ankle pain since a work-related injury on August 8, 2001.  At the time of the examination, the employee complained of numbness on the left lateral aspect of her head, her left shoulder, and somewhat into her arm, also present since the accident.
  The employee stated the pain was a burning sensation.  She reported a 30% improvement since her prior visit, but her neck and arm pain were still at a 5/10 on a comparative pain scale of 0 to 10, with 0 being no pain and 10 being unbearable pain.  Her leg pain on that date was 9/10.  Dr. Pulver suggested electrodiagnostic studies to further delineate the cause of the burning sensation in the left lateral aspect of the employee’s head, which could possibly be secondary to facet syndrome. Dr. Pulver also ordered an MRI of the left ankle,
 which was performed on October 2, 2001, and showed an accessory ossicle at the proximal pole of the navicular, but was otherwise normal.

12. On September 26, 2001, Dr. Pulver ordered another four weeks of physical therapy after the employee showed some progress after the first ten treatments.
 

13. On October 24, 2001, Dr. Pulver conducted an electrodiagnostic evaluation.
  Dr. Pulver’s impression of the testing was:  (1) cervical myofascial pain with possibly a component of facet joint syndrome; (2) left carpal syndrome, likely contributing to the pain and numbness in her left arm; and (3) improving low back pain secondary to sprain/strain.  The doctor found no evidence of other focal entrapment or radiculopathy of the employee’s upper and lower limbs.  She renewed the employee’s prescriptions for Ultram and Ambien
 and added a prescription for Zanaflex
 in an effort to improve the employee’s cervical myofascial pain.
  

14. On November 9, 2001, the employee was discharged from physical therapy to a home exercise program.

15. On November 27, 2001, the employee was seen for followup by Dr. Pulver.
  She continued to complain of left neck and head pain, but also complained of an increase in left shoulder pain.  Dr. Pulver opined the employee was not yet medically stable and indicated she might benefit from diagnostic and therapeutic facet joint injections in the left cervical area and left lumbar area.

16. On November 29, 2001, at the request of the employer, the employee was examined by Alfred Blue, M.D.
  Dr. Blue diagnosed bilateral CTS.  He opined her work as a processor at employer’s in 2001 was not a substantial factor in bringing about the need for the proposed carpal tunnel release.
  Dr. Blue maintained there were two problems which were not connected, the neck/shoulder area on the left which she relates to a fall, and a diagnosis of CTS with proven EMGs. 
  He opined the employee needed surgery for her CTS, but due to her reluctance to have surgery, the symptoms have persisted and any work in between was only a temporary aggravation and did not cause the need for the carpal tunnel release at that time.

17. On November 30, 2001, Cynthia Campbell, M.D., interpreted the results of the electrodiagnostic tests.  Dr. Campbell found the tests to be supportive of moderately severe bilateral CTS.

18. On December 3, 2001, at the employer’s request, Phillip C. Haeck, M.D., Plastic/Reconstructive and Hand Surgeon, performed a medical evaluation concerning the employee’s bilateral hand pain and numbness.
  The employee reported the reason she was no longer working at employer’s was unrelated to the current claim for carpal tunnel syndrome.
  The employee stated that at the time of the August 4, 2001 injury, she was already suffering intense pain in both wrists, which essentially had not gotten better, even though she has not worked for over five months at this point.
  Dr. Haeck concluded the work for the employer was not a substantial factor in her current complaints of CTS, and the short-time work there did not contribute to any worsening of her preexisting condition whatsoever.

19. On January 5, 2002, Holm W. Neumann, M.D., Ph.D., an orthopedic surgeon, examined the employee on behalf of Employer.   The focus of Dr. Neumann’s examination was the employee’s back pain, neck pain, numbness and tingling in her upper and lower extremities, and left ankle pain.
   The employee stated her abdomen had been hit with a falling pallet jack, after which she fell back onto her back and her left foot became caught between a roller and a pallet jack.  After that, the employee reported, she developed leg pain and back pain.
   Dr. Neumann was not provided with any imaging studies for review.  After review of the records and examination of the employee, Dr. Neumann’s diagnoses were: (1) contusion/strain injury to the left ankle associated with injury 2001; (2) degenerative disc disease cervical spine pre-existing her injury August 4, 2001; (3) status post cervical fusion C2-3; (4) degenerative disc disease and degenerative joint disease of the lumbar spine, pre-existing August 4, 2001; (5) pre-existing CTS, unrelated to incident August 4, 2001; and (6) possible impingement syndrome, left shoulder.  Dr. Neumann noted the employee showed marked functional behavior and pain behavior throughout the evaluation, and he found inconsistencies on the examination.
  He opined the examination itself was invalid in making observations for objective findings and that, by history, her condition should be stationary and stable by this time.
  Dr. Neumann found no objective evidence to indicate any impairment, or need for further treatment, or indicative the employee could not return to her work duties.

20. On January 9, 2002, the employee saw Dr. Pulver for followup of her shoulder pain, which she reported had improved, as well as her left-sided neck pain, low back pain, and left ankle pain.
  The employee reported she continued to perform her home exercises and to use ice on her left ankle.  Dr. Pulver prescribed a left ankle brace with lateral stays to give additional support for the left ankle.

21. On January 15, 2002, Dr. Jensen performed a left carpal tunnel release on the employee’s left wrist.
  

22. On January 31, 2002, Dr. Levine examined the employee, on referral from Dr. Pulver.
  Dr. Levine noted the employee reported her injury occurred on August 4, 2001, when a power jack struck a table, which then moved a metal roller and pushed into her abdominal region.  The employee further reported this threw her backwards with her left ankle caught.  She also reported she first injured her ankles, but within a couple of days had severe increasing neck pain.  The employee reported her worst pain on that date was her neck and shoulder.  After review of the records and examination of the employee, Dr. Levine’s diagnoses included: (1) myofascial pain complaints; (2) sleep disturbance; (3) whiplash phenomenon with possibility of contributing slight C2-3 headaches, but primarily C3-4, C4-5, and C5-6 referral pain pattern on the left; (4) ankle pain, but no significant undue instability or abnormality; (5) tobacco abuse; (6) history of carpal tunnel syndrome, status post recent repair on left; (7) probable compounding depression contributing; and (8) abdominal pain and probable GI irritation from use of NSAIDs.  Dr. Levine recommended possible cessation of the NSAIDs, given the employee’s gastrointestinal problems, and consideration of other medications.  Dr. Levine also recommended tobacco cessation and suggested injections and orthotics might be reasonable or helpful.
  

23. On March 13, 2002, Dr. Pulver saw the employee for followup of her multiple pain complaints.
  Dr. Pulver noted the employee’s cervical range of motion had decreased since her last visit, and she encouraged her to resume her stretching program and a walking program to increase tolerance and endurance.  She prescribed the medication oxycodone
 for pain.

24. On May 6, 2002, Dr. Jensen reviewed the employee’s job descriptions and released her for a variety of duties, including cashiering and other dexterous work, but none requiring the forcefulness she had to undergo as a processor.
  Dr. Pulver similarly found, on May 16, 2002, that with a work hardening program, she may be able to return to light or medium duty.
 

25. On May 21, 2002, Sean Johnston, M.D., evaluated the employee for a permanent partial impairment rating following her bilateral carpal tunnel release.  Dr. Johnston found the employee had complaints of ongoing pain, but normal sensation and strength.  His opinion at that time was that there was no justification for an impairment rating.  He recommended an EMG of the bilateral upper extremities to see whether she would qualify for any rating, and again, this rating would not exceed 5% of the upper extremity.
 

26. On June 6, 2002, Dr. Jensen opined the employee was not a candidate for any further treatments.
  He maintained the employee’s pain was subjective, without objective findings.  Dr. Jensen returned the employee to Dr. Johnston for nerve conduction studies and to complete an impairment rating.
  

27. On June 7, 2002, Dr. Pulver conducted an electrodiagnostic evaluation for the primary complaints of “tingling and stiffness as well as weakness in both hands.”
  Dr. Pulver read the test results as indicative of moderate bilateral CTS, with the right slightly worse than the left.”
  After reviewing the EMG results, Dr. Johnston rated the employee as having a 5% upper extremity impairment, which converted to a whole person impairment of 3% according to the AMA Guides,
 5th Edition.
 

28. On June 20, 2002, the employee returned to Dr. Pulver, complaining of neck pain, bilateral shoulder pain, back pain, bilateral leg pain, and left foot pain.  The employee stated she was taking a computer class and applying for light-duty positions.  Dr. Pulver renewed the employee’s prescription for Tylenol #3
 and prescribed amitryiptyline
 for sleep and pain complaints.

29. On September 4, 2002, the employee followed up with Dr. Pulver for her neck, left shoulder and left ankle pain.
  Dr. Pulver planned to refer the employee for injections for her persistent neck pain.  Dr. Pulver noted the employee was working as a teller at a bank, and also complained of CTS symptoms.

30. On September 27, 2002, Dr. Levine performed cervical medial branch blocks at C2, C3, C4 and C5, all on the left.

31. On October 3 and 23, 2002, the employee followed up with Dr. Pulver for her neck and low back pain, as well as tingling and numbness in all limbs.
  Dr. Pulver noted the employee had lost her job secondary to her pain issues.  The employee reported she did not receive any significant benefit from the cervical facet joint injections on September 27, 2002.  Dr. Pulver ordered an MRI of the brain because of the diffuse parathesias. She also prescribed the medication Zonegran
 for the paresthetic type sensations.

32. On October 28, 2002, a brain and brainstem MRI was performed, which showed a few small white matter lesions of the type associated with small vessels disease or vasculitis and even migraine, but not typical of those seen in multiple sclerosis.

33. On December 11, 2002, Dr. Pulver saw the employee for her ongoing complaints.
  She decided to refer her for evaluation for surgery, as conservative management had been exhausted.  She also ordered an MRI of the left shoulder to rule out a rotator cuff tear or impingement.
  

34. On December 13, 2002, the left shoulder MRI was performed and mild downsloping of the lateral acromion was noted.
  There was no tendonitis or frank rotator cuff tear, and the study was otherwise unremarkable.

35. On January 22, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Pulver in followup for her pain complaints, including persistent left ankle pain.
  

36. On February 12, 2003, Dr. Pulver saw the employee and ordered chiropractic treatment, recommended vocational rehabilitation, and decided to perform electrodiagnostic testing of the employee’s lower limbs.

37. On February 17, 2003, Alan C. Roth, M.D., a physiatrist, conducted a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME).
  Dr. Roth noted the employee’s past medical history was significant for C3-C4 fusion surgery in 1994, as a result of a box twice dropping on the employee’s head.  The employee had also had surgery for work-related carpal tunnel syndrome in 2002, which had been diagnosed in 1999.  The employee believed neither of these surgeries helped the related conditions, and she continued to be symptomatic.

38. During the SIME examination, the employee complained of pain to the left half of her head that appeared to radiate from her neck.  She also complained of left-sided shoulder pain and constant left arm pain radiating to her elbow.  The employee stated she had low back discomfort, pain with numbness to both knees, tingling and numbness radiating to the top of her foot, usually the left side.
  After examination, Dr. Roth diagnosed the employee as follows: (1) status post bilateral carpal tunnel release with persistent signs and symptoms; (2) neck and back strain; (3) status post cervical fusion; (4) possible lumbosacral radiculopathy; (5) probable depression; and (6) resolved contusion and strain to the left foot and ankle, and small plantar spur.

39. Dr. Roth opined the employee’s hand complaints resulted from her pre-existing CTS dating back to at least 1999.
  Similarly, he noted significant bilateral shoulder complaints dating back to 1999, indicating they arose from her 1999 injury as well.  Dr. Roth opined the employee’s low back pain radiating to her legs arose fairly quickly after her 2001 injury.  Dr. Roth maintained the employee’s back and radiating leg complaints arose out of that injury, either as a result of direct trauma or secondary positioning and strain.

40. Regarding the employee’s cervical complaints, Dr. Roth opined although she had an obvious pre-existing pathologic process requiring cervical fusion, she was entirely asymptomatic in terms of her neck until her 2001 injury.
  He also opined absent her 2001 injury, her neck probably would have remained comfortable.  He further opined the employee’s headaches probably resulted from the combination of degenerative cervical spine disease, which was made symptomatic by her injury in 2001.
  Dr. Roth maintained the August 4, 2001 work injury combined with her preexisting degenerative joint disease of the cervical spine and spinal fusion to produce the need for medical treatment for her neck pain and disability.  However, he also opined none of the objective signs, including limitation of range of motion and imaging studies, developed as a result of the work injury.  The doctor found that with the exception of the hand and shoulder complaints, the employee’s complaints of low back and left lower extremity symptoms, neck symptoms and headaches, were related to the work injury.  

41. Concerning future treatment, Dr. Roth opined the employee should have electrodiagnostic testing of her left lower extremity, and epidural steroid blocks should be considered for her lower back pain.  He further opined the medication Neurontin
 might benefit her.

42. Dr. Roth opined the employee was probably medically stable.  He assessed her PPI as follows:  1) CTS more than 5%; 2) neck, unable to rate the PPI; 3) back, 5% of the whole person.

43. Dr. Roth is credible,
 based upon his expertise as a board certified physiatrist.

44. On March 3, 2003, Davis Peterson evaluated the employee on referral from Dr. Pulver and opined there was no clear surgical indications for the cervical spine.
  He recommended evaluation by a neurologist.

45. On March 13, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Pulver, who prescribed the medication Neurontin for her neuropathic symptoms.

46. On March 14, 2003, the employee had x-rays of her cervical spine including lateral, flexion and extension views.
  The x-rays showed early cervical spine degenerative disc disease, cervical hypolordosis with anterior weight bearing and a right list, and generalized hypomobility upon flexion and extension, as well as a posterior screw-plate fixation of C2-C3.

47. On March 14, 2003, the employee saw G. Lee Waldroup, D.C., to begin a course of chiropractic treatment, which continued through June 18, 2003.

48. On April 11, 2003, Dr. Pulver wrote a letter to Dan Dejesus of the department of vocational rehabilitation, indicating the employee had a component of depression contributing to her symptoms and impaired condition.  Dr. Pulver indicated she had tried medication, but the employee had suffered undesirable side effects.  Dr. Pulver stated the employee was taking amitriptyline at bedtime for sleeping and pain, but the dose of this medication was not for the treatment of depression.  Dr. Pulver also evaluated the employee on April 11, 2003, and decided to refer her to a podiatrist for her left ankle pain.

49. On April 17, 2003, the employee saw podiatrist Karl Boesenberg, D.P.M., who noted the employee’s left ankle injury involving a hyperextension and eversion injury, which appeared to have irritated the navicular and its accessory bone with its tendon attachment.
  He recommended either custom foot orthoses or an additional course of physical therapy.  Dr. Boesenberg provided the employee with a flexible orthotic.
  On followup on May 1, 2003, cast impressions were obtained for fabricating custom orthotics.

50. On May 8, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Pulver, who noted the employee had a component of chronic pain syndrome, which was contributing to her symptoms.
  She prescribed Celexa
 for depression, which she opined might help with the chronic pain as well.

51. On May 20, 2003, a cervical spine MRI was obtained.
  It showed no significant changes since the prior MRI on August 30, 2001.

52. On May 23, 2003, the employee followed up with Dr. Boesenberg, who noted positive Tinel’s palpation of the left posterior tibial nerve and tenderness at the insertion of the posterior tibial tendon.

53. The parties entered into a Compromise and Release agreement (C&R), approved by the Board on June 24, 2003. 
  According to the terms of the C&R, the employee waived her right to all benefits under the Act except for future medical benefits.  The employee was represented by an attorney when the C&R was signed by the parties and approved by the Board.

54. The employee continued to treat with Dr. Pulver through 2003.
  On December 17, 2003, Dr. Pulver referred the employee to Eugene Chang, M.D., for evaluation of her left ankle.

55. On March 8, 2004, Dr. Chang., examined the employee as a new patient regarding her 2001 work injury. 
  The employee reported she turned her ankle when she was stepping off something and everted her ankle severely and since then, has been having severe pain in her left medial ankle.  The employee also stated she had bilateral CTS and chronic back pain.  Dr. Chang opined she had classic symptoms of tarsal tunnel syndrome and diagnosed probable left tarsal tunnel syndrome, and ordered an electromyography (EMG) test.
    

56. On March 26, 2004, Dr. Pulver conducted the EMG studies ordered by Dr. Chang.  Dr. Pulver opined the employee had a very mild abnormality of the left tibial nerve that might be related to a very mild tarsal tunnel syndrome.”
   All other test results were normal.  Dr. Pulver thought a steroid injection might be helpful both diagnostically and therapeutically.
  

57. On March 30, 2004, another cervical spine MRI was performed and an MRI of the lumbosacral spine was obtained as well.
  Dr. McCormick noted the postoperative changes in the upper cervical spine, small midline protrusions at C3-4, C5-6 and C6-7, which were not causing significant mass effect on adjacent neural elements.  He also noted reversal of the cervical lordosis, consistent with muscle spasm.  He indicated the MRI was otherwise unremarkable.  Dr. McCormick noted mild desiccation of the disc material at all lumbar intervertebral disc spaces, no disc herniations, and no central or foraminal spinal stenosis.  He indicated there were facet degenerative changes at the lowest two levels, and the MRI was otherwise unremarkable.

58. On April 19, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Pulver for neck pain, left upper limb pain, and ankle pain.
  Dr. Pulver indicated the March 30, 2004 MRI performed on the employee’s cervical and lumbar spines showed metal artifact in the cervical spine, along with postoperative changes in the upper cervical spine from C2 to C3.  She also noted small midline protrusions at C3-C4, C5-C6, and C6-C7, which did not appear to be causing significant mass effect on the adjacent neural elements.  Dr. Pulver noted the lumbar spine MRI revealed facet degenerative changes at the two lowest levels and early desiccation of the disc material at all levels.  Dr. Pulver planned to have a C7 selective nerve block performed to assist with diagnosing the problem as well as relieving pain.  She indicated the employee was having symptoms into the chest wall and periscapular, as well as into the left hand, consistent with C7 radiculitis.

59. On May 20, 2004, Dr. Chang saw the employee for followup for her pain in the left tarsal tunnel area.
  On exam, he noted she had exquisite pain behind the medial malleolus and a positive Tinel sign, as well as sharp electric-like pain along the course of her medial and plantar nerves.  Dr. Chang opined although the findings on EMG were equivocal, she had classic symptoms of tarsal tunnel on clinical exam, and since she had the pain for three years, it was unlikely to improve with time or orthotics.  He decided to give her a diagnostic as well as a therapeutic injection in her tarsal tunnel.  Dr. Chang also discussed tarsal tunnel release surgery with the employee.

60. On April 27, 2004, Dr. Levine administered an epidural steroid injection in the employee’s left C7 for her left C7 radiculopathy and C6-7 herniated nucleus pulposus (HNP).

61. On May 5, 2004, Dr. Chang saw the employee in followup after her injection for tarsal tunnel syndrome.
  She reported her ankle felt a little better after the injection, and that most of the pain in her ankle was coming from her back.  Dr. Chang opined this was a real possibility since she had a complex history of previous spinal fusion.  She also reported she was not receiving much pain relief from her spinal injections.  Dr. Chang suggested she try acupuncture.

62. On May 6, May 26, and June 9, 2004, Dr. Pulver saw the employee in followup for her neck pain, left arm pain, and abdominal pain.
  The employee reported she had not received any pain relief from the C7 nerve block administered April 27, 2004.

63. On June 16, 2004, Dr. Chang saw the employee for the pain in left ankle and again opined the pain was due to tarsal tunnel syndrome.
  He recommended physical therapy.

64. On June 24, 2004, the employee commenced physical therapy at United Physical Therapy.
  P.T. Alec Kay noted the employee had pain because of tarsal tunnel compression on the left, with some contribution from lumbar radiculopathy.  He opined she would benefit from physical therapy to reduce the tension in the medial ankle, and planned exercise, soft tissue mobilization and evaluation for other types of foot support to decrease the stress and strain in the left medial ankle.
  

65. On July 21, 2004, P.T. Kay reported the employee had completed seven sessions of physical therapy and had demonstrated some slight improvement in plantar flexion strength and dorsiflexion range of motion, although she was still functionally limited and had neurological findings indicative of nerve compression.
  He noted she was opposed to having surgery, and thus he planned continued physical therapy for range of motion and gait.

66. On July 23, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Chang in followup.
  The employee reported the physical therapy had helped, although she continued to have numbness and tingling down the medial side of her foot.

67. On July 28, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Pulver for followup, and reported she had seen Dr. Mary Langdon for depression, and found this helpful.

68. On August 19, 2004, P.T. Kay discharged the employee to a home exercise program.
  He noted the employee reported improvement in her pain, although it was still present and woke her up at night.

69. In August, September, October, and November, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Pulver for followup for her neck pain, back pain and bilateral hand pain, as she routinely did at least once per month.
  Dr. Pulver noted the employee had begun training, then working as a cashier through the department of vocational rehabilitation.  Dr. Pulver also noted the employee continued to treat with Dr. Mary Langdon for depression.

70. On December 22, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Pulver and reported she had recently received an RS-1 interferential stimulator,
 which was helping with her pain.
  Dr. Pulver noted if the stimulator continued to provide relief, the employee’s medications could be decreased.

71. On January 21, 2005, advanced nurse practitioner (ANP) Shawna Wilson, in lieu of Dr. Pulver, saw the employee in followup for her low back and neck pain.
  ANP Wilson noted the employee had a significant escalation in her low back and neck pain, which the employee attributed to not being able to use her ergonomic chair, as it was large and did not fit easily into her work space.  ANP Wilson wrote the employee a note to give to her employer requesting she be allowed to use her ergonomic chair.

72. On February 23, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Pulver for her low back, neck, and left ankle pain.
  The employee reported she would no longer be working as a cashier, as her job description, as well as the management, had changed, and the department of vocational rehabilitation would be looking for another job for her.  Dr. Pulver indicated the employee was doing well on her current medications.
  She continued to followup with Dr. Pulver in March, May and June, 2004.

73. On June 15, 2005, the employee underwent a left shoulder MRI, which showed minor degenerative changes at the acromioclavicular joint, and an intact rotator cuff.
  The study was otherwise unremarkable.

74. From June 2005 through December 2005, the employee continued to followup with Dr. Pulver for her neck, left shoulder, hand and left ankle pain complaints.  Dr. Pulver noted the employee started a new job as a cashier in August, 2005.  Dr. Pulver also noted the employee continued to treat with Dr. Langdon for depression.
  On December 23, 2005, Dr. Pulver noted the medication Lyrica,
 which was first prescribed in November for the employee’s neuropathic symptoms in her neck, arms and left foot, was effective in reducing her pain.

75. On December 5, 2005, Dr. Chang saw the employee for the first time in over one year.  The employee complained of a lot of pain in her ankle, as well as numbness of the top of her foot.
  On examination, the employee had a positive Tinel’s and Phalen’s over the tarsal tunnel.  He recommended tarsal tunnel release surgery, although he indicated it was unpredictable how successful the surgery would be given the chronicity of the problem.  He also recommended another injection.

76. On December 27, 2005, Dr. Chang performed left tarsal tunnel release on the employee.

77. On February 20, 2006, on referral from Dr. Chang following her tarsal tunnel release, the employee began physical therapy at Chugach Physical Therapy, following her left tarsal tunnel release.

78. On March 8, 2006, cervical spine x-rays were performed, including flexion and extension and neutral lateral views, which did not show any instability.  The loss of normal curvature consistent with muscle spasm was noted.

79.  On March 15, 2006, Dr. Pulver saw the employee for her left neck pain, which was referred to the left proximal upper limb and chest wall.
  She ordered a repeat cervical spine MRI, which was performed on March 20, 2006, and showed the postoperative changes from the laminectomy, a moderate sized midline protrusion at C2-3, causing a slight mass effect on the ventral aspect of the cord, and a small midline protrusion at C5-6, not causing a mass effect, and a tiny protrusion at C6-7, as well as a reversal of the cervical lordosis, consistent with muscle spasm.

80. On March 22, 2006, Dr. Pulver increased the dose of the employee’s Lyrica medication, which the employee reported gave her some relief.

81. On April 12, 2006, the employee followed up with Dr. Chang, who noted she continued to improve and had resumed working.  He noted she still had a limp and pain in her hindfoot, or the back part of her foot, but she reported it was improving.  He opined she was not yet medically stable, and he continued her physical therapy.

82. On May 1, 2006, Dr. Levine evaluated the employee for her complaints of cervical and left shoulder pain, which the employee reported had been ongoing since August 4, 2001, the date of the work injury.  Dr. Levine diagnosed the employee as follows:  1) chronic pain syndrome; 2) left arm and left leg pain with hemisensory and hemimotor changes on the left; 3) left foot and  ankle pain, status post tarsal tunnel release; 4) discogenic pain; 5) complaints of bilateral hand pain and numbness with history of CTS; 6) depression; 7) sleep disturbance; and 8) altered functional status.  Dr. Levine ordered a brain MRI to determine whether the left-sided pain, weakness, and loss of coordination were related to a stoke.  He also increased her Lyrica and opined she should be weaned off the morphine products she was taking.
 

83. On May 2, 2006, an MRI of the employee’s brain was performed, which showed small focal areas of hyperintensity within the white matter in the right parietal area, predominantly peripheral.  There was nothing to suggest a cortical infarct or multiple sclerosis, although it was possible the focal areas represented small white matter infarcts that correlated with the employee’s symptoms.

84. On May 9, 2006, the employee followed up with James Glenn, PA-C, who saw the employee for Dr. Levine.  He discussed the brain MRI with the employee, prescribed Catapres
 patches, and started to wean her off her morphine medication.  He referred her to neurologist Mary Downs, M.D.

85. On May 30, 2006, the employee was discharged from physical therapy for her left ankle and foot.  PT Hansen noted the employee stated her foot had improved, and opined the employee’s chronic back pain was contributing to her medial left ankle pain.

86. On June 12, 2006, the employee told Dr. Chang that she had gotten worse since her last visit with him in April.  Dr. Chang recommended and prescribed another session of physical therapy for her tarsal tunnel, since that seemed to have helped in the past.
  

87. On July 10, 2006, PA Glenn saw the employee, refilled her medications Lyrica and Ultram, and noted she was glad she had stopped the morphine, as her memory had improved and she was functioning better.

88. On July 10, 2006, physical therapy was discontinued, with goals not met due to the employee’s chronic pain symptoms.

89. On July 24, 2006, Mary Downs, M.D., a neurologist, evaluated the employee for various complaints, including pain, numbness, and weakness after an accident.
  The employee indicated to Dr. Downs that in 2001 she had been struck in the stomach by a table and was pushed over backwards.  The employee reported her left leg was caught and twisted, and that she “actually had to have surgery on her left leg.”  The employee indicated she was not sure if she had hit her head or lost consciousness.  The employee stated that since the accident she had constant and severe headaches, pain in her left-sided extremities, chest pain, back pain, neck pain, and shoulder pain.
   Dr. Downs opined the employee had what sounds like a fairly insignificant injury, at least in regard to a head injury, but continued to have various complaints of numbness and weakness.
  The employee also reported memory problems.  Dr. Downs decided to review the brain scan and the head and cervical MRIs before deciding if additional testing might be needed.

90. On July 26, 2006, the employee was involved in an automobile accident.  She was examined in the Alaska Regional Hospital emergency room by Paul Sims, D.O.
  Dr. Sims’ diagnosis was cervical strain.  A cervical spine x-ray showed no acute fracture or malalignment.
  On July 26th, the employee also underwent a cervical MRI, which revealed inferior cervical spondylosis, but no apparent acute fracture.
  Following the accident, R. Wheeler, D.O., examined the employee.  She complained of headache, neck pain, and shoulder pain down through her back, arms and foot.  The employee reported chronic pain in her neck and back, made worse by the accident.
  

91. On August 9, 2006, Dr. Chang saw the employee for followup on her left tarsal tunnel release.  Dr. Chang noted the employee continued to have left ankle pain with prolonged standing and walking, with some localized swelling.  He opined the continued neuropathic pain was a combination of her initial injury and her newly diagnosed diabetes.  He also opined she was medically stable.

92. On August 24, 2006, PA Glenn saw the employee and noted she was involved in a motor vehicle accident on July 26, 2006, for which she was being seen by Dr. Wheeler, who prescribed massage and stretching therapy, as well as a TENS
 unit.

93. On September 21, 2006, the employee saw PA Glenn, who gave her a work status release and encouraged her to find work where she could sit rather than stand.  He ordered physical therapy for her cervical spine issues, range of motion, and strengthening.  He also ordered bilateral hand splints to be worn at night.
  The employee began her physical therapy for her neck and upper extremity pain on September 27, 2006.

94. On September 29, 2006, Dr. Chang saw the employee, who complained of ongoing foot pain, and also of knee pain and weakness.  He noted the employee asked him to complete some disability paperwork for her.  Dr. Chang diagnosed the employee with permanent neuropathy of the posterior tibial nerve and opined her foot pain was synergizing with her spinal column pathology.  He prescribed a cane for her.

95. On October 24, 2006, Alan Blizzard, P.T., of Alaska Spine Institute conducted a Physical Capacities Evaluation (PCE) on referral from the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation.
  The employee’s referral diagnosis was cervical spine pain.   The employee stated she had injured herself in August of 2001 while working for the employer, when a pallet jack hit a table at which she was working, which knocked her backwards landing on her back and hitting her head.  The employee stated this was when she re-injured her cervical spine and also injured her left foot.”
  P.T. Blizzard opined the employee performed with a poor overall consistency on the evaluation.  He stated her validity summary was 54%, which was a poor effort and resulted in an invalid PCE.  Therefore, an accurate overall view of strength demand levels for vocational reeducation or impairment ratings could not be given.

96. On November 7, 2006, PA Glenn examined the employee.  The employee continued to complain of left arm and left leg pain, headaches, left foot and ankle pain, discogenic pain, pain in both hands along with altered sensation, depression and sleep disturbance.  PA Glenn indicated the employee’s cervical spine and low back pain were back to pre-injury status after the July 2006 motor vehicle accident.  He indicated she had completed her physical therapy program.  P.A. Glenn noted the employee also had altered functional status, and recommended she either be placed in a new job position that she could handle on a long-term basis, or receive retraining.
  

97. On December 19, 2006, PA Glenn evaluated the employee, who complained of ongoing cervical spine pain with left upper extremity referral symptoms.  He indicated the employee had these symptoms for many years and he was at a loss as to what the next step in her care should be.  He scheduled her for a repeat EMG of the left upper extremity.

98. On December 28, 2006, Dr. Levine performed EMG testing on the employee’s left upper extremity.    Dr. Levine found no significant acute irritability, and noted there was some remodeling at the abductor pollicis brevis consistent with longstanding CTS.  He diagnosed mild-to-moderate CTS in the left upper extremity.  Dr. Levine noted the employee complained of numbness in her left hand and stated she was dropping things.  Dr. Levine increased the employee’s Lyrica to help with the neuropathic-type pain of which she complained.  Dr. Levine opined the employee was capable of some form of work.
  

99. On March 17, 2007, Douglas Bald, M.D., conducted an EME.
   The employee reported to Dr. Bald she had been injured on the job on August 4, 2001, while working for the employer as a processor.  She stated she had been standing at the end of a table doing fish packing, when another employee apparently struck the table with a pallet jack.  She reported the table was pushed into her, striking her in the stomach and knocking her backwards, causing her to fall and land on the concrete floor.  The employee noted that when she lost her balance her left foot had become stuck between the pallet and the table, she incurred injuries to her upper back and neck, her lower back, and left ankle area.  The employee reported to Dr. Bald she had initially been taken off work while continuing treatment at King Cove Clinic.  Her complaints at that time included neck and low back pain, leg symptoms, as well as continued complaints of pain in her left ankle.  She reported being distressed at not being able to see a doctor while in King Cove and did not report to a doctor until she traveled to Anchorage on August 28, 2001, where she was examined by Francine Pulver, M.D.
  

100. Dr. Bald noted the employee’s most significant symptoms at the time of his examination involved the left side of her upper back, neck, and face, where she described fairly constant and continuous aching pain, moderate in intensity, that is continuously present and not really affected by her physical activities.
  The employee’s hands were her next most limiting complaint, and they are still very painful, numb, stiff, and swollen at times, to the point that she has difficulty doing any kind of repetitive activities with her hands.  The employee stated her low back was her least limiting complaint, where she had a low-grade, constant ache with numbness involving the left lower leg and foot.  Regarding her left ankle, the employee described a constant ache in the ankle, as well as a sense of coldness, and numbness on the top of the foot, primarily associated with weight bearing activities.  The employee reported she was currently taking Lyrica
 and Ultram for pain relief and was on multiple other medications for unrelated problems.

101. After review of the medical records and examination of the employee, Dr. Bald diagnosed the employee as follows:  (1) resolved left ankle sprain/contusion related to injury date of August 4, 2001; (2) resolved myofascial cervical and lumbar strains related, by history, to the injury date of August 4, 2001; (3) preexisting multilevel degenerative disc disease, cervical and lumbar spine; (4) unrelated history of bilateral CTS, status post bilateral carpal tunnel decompression; (5) preexisting anxiety, depression, and chronic pain syndrome; (6) adult onset diabetes; and (7) postoperative left tarsal tunnel decompression, unrelated to the work injury date of August 4, 2001.
 

102. In summary, Dr. Bald opined, in all medical probability, the evidence supports that the employee incurred a soft tissue injury to her left ankle consistent with a contusion and sprain, as well as soft tissue muscular type strain injuries to the cervical and lumbar spine as a result of the injury event in question of August 4, 2001.
  Dr. Bald further opined that in spite of the extensive amount of medical treatment and diagnostic studies that have been performed over the last eight years, it was apparent the employee continued to be moderately symptomatic in all areas.  Dr. Bald maintained this was not consistent with any kind of specific diagnosis.  Dr. Bald maintained the employee’s chronic pain syndrome was caused by her preexisting anxiety and depression combined with her preexisting cervical and lumbar degenerative disc disease.

103. Finally Dr. Bald stated that in his expert opinion, no medical treatment of any kind was reasonable or necessary at that time related to the work injury on August 4, 2001.
  He also opined it was reasonable for the employee to continue her prescriptions of oral Ultram and Lyrica for treatment of her chronic degenerative disc disease and chronic pain syndrome conditions, though these conditions and recommended treatment are unrelated to the injury claim.  Dr. Bald opined “any and all injuries incurred on August 4, 2001, have long ago resolved without residuals.”

104. Dr. Bald is credible,
 based upon his expertise as a board certified orthopedic surgeon.

105. On April 17, 2007, the employer controverted all medical benefits, based upon Dr. Bald’s March 17, 2007 EME report.

106. On April 19, 2007, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) for medical costs and permanent total disability (PTD) from 2002 and continuing, for injuries to her neck, shoulder, back, left foot and both hands.

107. On May 9, 2007, Dr. Chang opined the employee should continue to use Lyrica for nerve pain, as well as Ultram for muscular pain.

108. On April 16, 2008, Dr. Chang opined the tarsal tunnel release that the employee underwent was directly related to the work-related injury in 2001.
  He maintained she had persistent and ongoing pain involving her ankle and foot despite the nerve compression, and the medication Lyrica helped lessen her foot pain.  He diagnosed her with permanent neuropathic pain involving the left lower extremity, and recommended the employee continue to receive Lyrica due to her ongoing injury-related pain.

109. On September 26, 2008, the employee filed another WCC for medical benefits for her back, neck, left foot and left shoulder.  She noted she would be changing doctors, as she was moving out of the country in search for a cure.

110. On December 15, 2008, Dr. Chang reviewed Dr. Bald’s March 17, 2008, EME report.  Dr. Chang agreed with Dr. Bald concerning the employee’s cervical and ankle issues.
  

111. On January 5, 2009, Dr. Chang clarified his statement of December 15, 2008.  Dr. Chang opined the employee’s tarsal tunnel was related to the work injury.  He maintained the tarsal tunnel problem started after the injury that occurred at work, and he disagreed with Dr. Bald on this very important point.
 

112. Dr. Chang is credible,
 based upon his expertise as a board certified orthopedic surgeon and his knowledge of the employee’s left ankle symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment over several years’ time.

113. On March 17, 2009, Edward Voke, M.D., evaluated the employee following an MRI of her cervical spine.
  Dr. Voke noted the MRI showed a bulging disc at C3-4 and a past laminectomy and fusion at C2-3.  The employee reported she was taking the medications Lyrica and Ultracet,
 which helped with her neck discomfort.  Dr. Voke indicated he would obtain flexion and extension x-rays to check for the stability of the cervical spine and also planned to obtain an EMG of her upper extremities.

114. On May 17, 2009, the employee returned to Dr. Levine complaining of pain in her left wrist and requesting a resting neutral hand splint to wear at night.

115. On August 22, 2009, John J. Lipon, D.O., an orthopedic surgeon, performed an SIME.
  The employee described her areas of pain on a pain diagram, noting aching and pain in the back of her head, upper neck, upper back and lower neck on the left which goes into the scapular area.  The employee also reported she had pain, aching, and numbness from the base of her neck on the left going into the shoulder and down the lateral aspect of her upper arm and the radial aspect of her forearm to the mid forearm level.  She further reported aching in her right shoulder and upper arm and aching in both wrists that went into her middle fingers, and she stated she had numbness in her left thumb.  Regarding her lower back, the employee stated she had pain and aching in the midline that extended down her left buttock into her left thigh and left calf to the level of her left ankle and into her left middle toe.  The employee also complained of aching in her right foot.

116. The employee told Dr. Lipon she had been working for the employer on the boxing line on August 4, 2001, a position that required her to stand the entire time.
  She stated the job also involved facing a metal roller that was about two feet wide while product came down on the roller from her right and continued down the roller to her left.  The employee also described her work injury to Dr. Lipon.  She said an electric pallet jack had hit her coworker’s table, pushing the table into the roller, which in turn struck her in the stomach, causing her to fall backwards onto the cement.  The employee stated her left foot got caught between the legs of the table and roller.  The employee stated she felt immediate pain in her ankle and pain in her neck after she fell on the cement floor.  The employee reported no loss of consciousness.
  

117. Following review of the medical records and examination of the employee, Dr. Lipon’s diagnoses were:  (1) cervicodorsal and lumbar strains, on a more probable than not basis secondary to the industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (2) cervicogenic headaches, which would have been medically reasonable secondary to the cervicodorsal strain from the August 4, 2001, injury, but which would have been expected to have resolved by January 1, 2002; (3) left ankle sprain, on a more probable than not basis related to the industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (4) status post cervical fusion at the C2-3 level in 1994, which was not aggravated by the industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (5) degenerative changes of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine, preexisting and not aggravated by the industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (6) temporary worsening of chronic neck and back pain symptoms following motor vehicle accident on July 26, 2006, resolved with chiropractic treatment; (7) bilateral CTS related to injury date of February 5, 1999, preexisting and not aggravated by industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (8) left tarsal tunnel release for left tarsal tunnel syndrome, not caused by the industrial injury of August 4, 2001; (9) history of anxiety and depression; (10) diabetes mellitus type 2 (adult onset); and (11) symptom magnification and abnormal pain behavior.

118. Dr. Lipon opined it would have been reasonable she may have had some cervicogenic headaches from her cervicodorsal strain, but the employee’s current complaints of headaches were unrelated to the industrial injury of August 4, 2001, on a more probable than not basis.
  Dr. Lipon found no objective evidence supporting the employee’s ongoing headache complaints.  Similarly, Dr. Lipon found the records and his objective examination did not support injury to the left shoulder, ongoing symptoms involving her back and legs, the tarsal tunnel syndrome and need for surgery, or ongoing left ankle pain with medial sided heel and foot numbness.  Dr. Lipon noted the medical records showed on August 8, 2001, the employee’s ankle was swollen, and tender over the talus bone, but her range of motion was normal.  In addition, when evaluated on two occasions later in August, her gait was normal.  An MRI of her left ankle on October 2, 2001 was also normal.  Finally, electrodiagnostic studies performed in October 2001 and April 2003 did not show any radiculopathy in the lower extremities.  Thus Dr. Lipon opined the employee’s left ankle tarsal tunnel syndrome is not related to the August 4, 2001 work injury.  

119. Based on the medical records, patient interview and physical examination, Dr. Lipon concluded no additional treatment would be considered medically reasonable and necessary as a result of the injury of August 4, 2001 and/or her employment with the employer.  He maintained the employee’s medical treatment through January 1, 2002 was reasonable and necessary for her injury.

120. Dr. Lipon also opined the records and the employee’s presentation on the day of the evaluation documented symptom magnification, abnormal pain behavior, and a concern about secondary gain.
  Dr. Lipon cited specific medical records dating from the employee’s injury in August 2001, and specific instances during his examination, in support of this opinion.

121. Dr. Lipon opined the work injury of August 4, 2001 was a substantial factor only for the diagnoses of cervicodorsal and lumbar strains and left ankle sprain.  He further opined her ongoing complaints were no longer related to the work injury, noting her presentation was of a rather diffuse list of symptoms and multiple body part areas, but normal measurable findings.

122. Finally, Dr. Lipon opined no medical treatment had been shown to promote her recovery from her chronic pain complaints, or limit or reduce permanent impairment, or enable her to return to or continue working.  He based this opinion in part on the fact the employee told him her condition had not improved despite all the treatment she had had up to the time of the evaluation.

123. The employee provided an undated letter signed by licensed clinical social worker Gwen Crawford of the Providence Behavioral Health Center.  LCSW Crawford stated the employee had been a client since September 2004, and the employee had consistently recounted her daily struggle with unremitting pain.  LCSW Crawford noted the employee’s fondest hopes of resuming gainful employment had been frustrated by her limited ability to function.  LCSW Crawford opined the employee had become resigned to the fact medication would be necessary for her to achieve a tolerable quality of life, and she supported the employee’s efforts to secure appropriate attention for her concerns.

124. The employee testified she was happy with the C&R at the time she signed it, but she did not realize her medical benefits would be controverted in the future.  She testified her July 2006 motor vehicle accident was a minor one, and she was back to her pre-accident status after a few months.  She testified she particularly needed her medical benefits to pay for her medications Lyrica and Ultram.  

125. The employee testified she wanted to work and tried to find a job, but she has not been able to because her neck, shoulder, back and foot pain do not allow her to work.  The employee testified she objected to Dr. Lipon’s SIME report, as he interviewed her for two hours, but only examined her for thirty minutes.  The employee also testified the dynamic motion x-rays recommended by Dr. Pulver in 2001 and 2002 were never performed.  Additionally, she testified she has been unable to find pain management treatment since she is on Medicare and Medicaid.

126. The employee testified she was on social security disability and Medicare, but she planned to move to the Philippines, and Medicare would not pay for her medical treatment there 

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  

Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”
  “An employee's preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case.”
  

A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary.  That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable.”

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers' compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester
 suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”

AS 23.30.012. Agreements in regard to claims.

At any time after death, or after 30 days subsequent to the date of the injury, the employer and the employee or the beneficiary or beneficiaries, as the case may be, have the right to reach an agreement in regard to a claim for injury or death under this chapter in accordance with the applicable schedule in this chapter, but a memorandum of the agreement in a form prescribed by the board shall be filed with the board. Otherwise, the agreement is void for any purpose. If approved by the board, the agreement is enforceable the same as an order or award of the board and discharges the liability of the employer for the compensation notwithstanding the provisions of AS 23.30.130, 23.30.160, and 23.30.245. The agreement shall be approved by the board only when the terms conform to the provisions of this chapter and, if it involves or is likely to involve permanent disability, the board may require an impartial medical examination and a hearing in order to determine whether or not to approve the agreement. The board may approve lump-sum settlements when it appears to be to the best interest of the employee or beneficiary or beneficiaries.

Smith v CSK Auto Inc., 204 P.2d 1001 (Alaska 2009)(Grounds for setting aside a C&R under the Act include misrepresentation and fraud, duress, violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and regulatory violations.)

AS 23.30.095(a) provided, in part, at the time of the employee’s injury:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years form and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

AS 23.30.120, provided, in part:

Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."A three-step analysis is utilized when applying the presumption of compensability.
  

The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  To make a prima facie case, raising the presumption of compensability, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.  "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  

At this stage in our analysis the witnesses’ credibility is not weighed.
  If there is relevant evidence at this threshold step, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, the employee need not produce any further evidence and he prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of persuasion, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  

Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, at the third stage of the analysis, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  A longstanding principle we must include in our analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.
  Also, in 2005, the Alaska State Legislature adopted AS 23.30.010(a), which provides the following, in part:
. . . A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

The Alaska Supreme Court decades ago defined the quantum of “substantial” in its decision Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,
  in the context of workers’ compensation as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  

(a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

ANALYSIS

1. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO CONTINUING MEDICAL BENEFITS PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.095?

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits.
  Whether the employee’s work injury is a substantial factor in her ongoing neck, back, left lower extremity and bilateral CTS symptoms, disabilities, and need for medical care is a complex medical issue for which expert medical evidence is required.  At the first stage of the presumption analysis, based on the testimony of the employee and the medical reports and opinions of Drs. Pulver, Levine, and Chang, the record contains sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability for the medical benefits requested by the employee.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer argues Dr. Bald’s January 19, 2007 EME report and Dr. Lipon’s May 18, 2008 SIME report provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  Dr. Bald’s and Dr. Lipon’s opinions provide alternate causes for the employee’s ongoing symptoms, and any disability or need for further medical treatment, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial factor causing the disability.  Specifically Dr. Bald opined no medical treatment of any kind was reasonable or necessary for the employee’s work-related injuries, which in his opinion had long ago resolved without residuals.  Dr. Lipon also opined none of the employee’s current complaints of headaches, shoulder pain, ongoing back pain, lower extremity pain, or ongoing left ankle pain with heel and toe numbness were related to the work injury.  The opinions of Dr. Bald and Dr. Lipon directly eliminate the work injury as the cause of any ongoing need for medical treatment.  Therefore, the employer has rebutted the presumption.

Once the employer has rebutted the presumption, the employee must prove by a preponderance of the evidence she is entitled to the disputed medical benefits at the third state of the presumption analysis.  However, the employee has failed to prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Concerning the employee’s bilateral CTS, the great weight of the evidence proves the CTS is not related to the employee’s work injury, based upon the opinions of Drs. Blue, Haeck, Roth, Bald and Lipon, all of whom opined the employee’s CTS is not related to the employee’s work with the employer.  

Regarding the cervical and lumbar spine conditions, the weight of the evidence, based on the opinions of Drs. Bald and Lipon, also proves the work injury was a substantial factor for her cervical and lumbar spine strains, but is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current cervical spine symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment.  Rather, both Dr. Bald and Dr. Lipon opined the employee’s current cervical spine and back pain and disability are caused by her preexisting chronic degenerative disc disease.  Although Dr. Roth opined in February 2003, the employee’s cervical spine symptoms were caused by the work injury, less weight is placed on his opinions in the assessment of the employee’s current cervical spine condition, as those opinions were based on his evaluation of over six years ago, and are not as relevant to her current condition as the more recent evaluations performed by Drs. Bald and Lipon.

Based upon the evaluations and opinion of Dr. Roth who opined the shoulder pain was due to a preexisting 1999 injury, and the opinion of Dr. Lipon, who noted physical examinations done in August 2001 found no problems with the employee’s shoulders, and a December 2002 MRI found no problems with the left shoulder, the work injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s shoulder disability.  

The employee’s treating physician Dr. Chang has opined the employee’s ongoing left ankle pain is due to tarsal tunnel syndrome and is still related to the work injury, and further, the employee requires Lyrica for her nerve pain and Ultram for her muscle pain.  However, the greater weight of the evidence, based on the opinions of Drs. Bald and Lipon, proves the employee suffered only a left ankle sprain as a result of the work injury and that sprain has resolved.  Based on the medical reports and opinions of Drs. Bald and Lipon, the work injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current pain complaints and need for medical treatment for her left foot and ankle.  

II. IS THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM FOR PTD BENEFITS PRECLUDED BY THE JUNE 24, 2003 C&R?

Based on the employee’s testimony, she was satisfied with the C&R at the time she signed it, but she was unaware the employer would be able to controvert medical benefits subsequent to the C&R, as medical benefits were left open.  The employee did not make a claim to overturn the C&R, or state any reasons why the C&R should be overturned.  It is undisputed the C&R, which waived the employee’s rights under the Act, except for future medical benefits, was signed by the parties and approved by the Board on June 24, 2003.  Since the C&R was approved by the board, it is enforceable the same as an order or award of the board and discharges the liability of the employer for the compensation, notwithstanding the provisions of AS 23.30.130, 23.30.160, and 23.30.245.  Therefore, the employer’s liability for PTD, and any other compensation except future medical benefits, was discharged by the terms of the June 24, 2003 C&R.  
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The August 4, 2001 work injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current neck, back, shoulder, left leg, left foot and ankle, and bilateral hand symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment.  

2. The employee’s claim for PTD is precluded by the June 24, 2003 C&R, in which the employee waived her claim for all future benefits, except medical benefits.


ORDERS

1. The employee’s request for medical benefits for her current neck, back, shoulder, left leg, left foot and ankle, and bilateral hand symptoms and disability is denied. 

2. The employee’s claim for PTD benefits is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on January 28, 2010.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






Patricia Vollendorf, Member






Janet Waldron, Member

DISSENT OF DESIGNATED CHAIR

I respectfully dissent from the decision of the board members concerning the employee’s left ankle tarsal tunnel syndrome.  Greater weight should be accorded the opinion of the employee’s treating physician, Dr. Chang, who treated the employee over several years and maintains the work injury is the cause of her current left ankle pain and need for medical treatment in the form of the medications Lyrica and Ultram.  Although Dr. Lipon relied on the normal physical examinations and electrodiagnostic studies that were performed in 2001 and 2003 to determine the tarsal tunnel syndrome was not related to the work injury, he did not state that such an injury could not develop over time.  Furthermore, the employee’s symptoms of left ankle pain have been consistent since the time of the work injury.  The work injury should be found to be a substantial factor in the employee’s left ankle symptoms, disability and need for medical treatment with the medications Lyrica and Ultram. 






Judith DeMarsh, Designated Chair

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of NELLIE V. PENNINGTON employee / employee; v. PETER PAN SEAFOODS, employer; and SEABRIGHT INSURANCE CO.; defendants; Case No. 200114848; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on January 28, 2010.






Kim Weaver, Administrative Clerk
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� In Denuptiis v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272 (Alaska 2003), the Alaska Supreme Court held that, in the absence of any specific standard of proof, we must apply the preponderance of the evidence standard from the Alaska Administrative Procedure Act, AS 44.62.460(e).


� Report of Injury filed 8/8/01.


� 08/04/2001 King Cove PCC Ambulatory Encounter Record.


� Id.


� 08/06/2001 King Cover PCC Ambulatory Encounter Record.


� Id.


� 08/08/2001 Chart Notes, First Care Medical Centers.


� 08/08/2001 Radiology Report, George Ladyman, M.D.


� Id.


� 08/08/2001 Radiology Report, Dr. Ladyman.


� 08/08/2001 Chart Notes, Dr. Cronin, FirstCare Medical Centers.


� Id.


� 08/10/2001 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen.


� Dr. Walker’s clinic note, 5/5/99.


� 08/10/2001 United Physical Therapy chart notes.


� 08/16/2001 Physical Therapy Notes, United Physical Therapy.


� Report of Injury filed 8/15/01.


� 08/20/2001 Radiology Report, Dr. McCormick.


� Id.


� Id.


� 08/28/2001 Consultation, Dr. Pulver.


� Id.


� Id.


� Vioxx is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug.  www.drugs.com.


� Ultram is a narcotic-like pain reliever.  www.drugs.com.


� 08/29/2001 PAMC Emergency Room Note, Dr. Hanley.


� 08/29/2001 RMA Chart Notes.


� 08/29/2001 PAMC Emergency Room Note, Dr. Hanley.


� Ativan is a medication used to treat anxiety.  www.drugs.com..


� Id.


� 08/30/2001 Cervical MRI report, Leonard Sisk, M.D.


� 8/30/2001 Lumbar MRI report, Dr. Sisk.


� PT Caylor’s Physical Therapy Evaluation, 8/31/01.


� In an eversion injury, the ankle rolls inward and the foot turns outward, damaging the ligaments at the inside of the ankle.  www.webmd.com.


� Id.


� Dr. Jensen’s clinic note, 9/4/01.


� 09/26/2001 Chart Notes, Dr. Pulver.


� Id.


� Id.


� Leonard Sisk’s MRI report, 10/2/01.


� PT Progress Notes, 9/26/01.


� 10/24/2001 Electrodiagnostic Evaluation, Dr. Pulver.


� Ambien is a sedative, given for insomnia.  www.drugs.com.


� Zanaflex is a short-acting muscle relaxant.  www.drugs.com.


� 10/24/2001 Electrodiagnostic Evaluation, Dr. Pulver.


� Physical Therapy Progress Report, 11/9/01.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 11/27/01.


� Id.


� 11/29/2001 EME report, Dr. Blue.


� 11/29/2001 EME report, Dr. Blue.


� 11/29/2001 EME report, Dr. Blue, pg. 5.


� 11/29/2001 EME report, Dr. Blue, pg. 6.


� 11/30/2001 Neuromuscular Electrodiagnostic Interpretation.


� 12/03/2001 EME report, Dr. Haeck.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 01/05/2002 EME report, Dr. Neumann, pgs. 1 and 2.


� Id.


� 01/05/2002 EME report, Dr. Neumann, pg. 10.


� Id.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 1/9/02.


� Id.


� 01/15/2002 Operative Report, Dr. Jensen.


� 01/31/2002 Clinic Note, Dr. Levine.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 3/13/02.


� Oxycodone is a narcotic pain medication.  www.drugs.com.


� Id.


� 05/06/2002 Chart Note, Dr. Jensen.


� 05/16/2002 Responses of Dr. Pulver to inquiries.


� 05/21/2002 PPI rating letter to Dr. Jensen from Dr. Johnston.


� 06/06/2002 Chart Notes, Dr. Jensen.


� Id.


� 06/07/2002 Letter to Dr. Jensen from Dr. Pulver.


� 06/07/2002 Letter to Dr. Jensen from Dr. Pulver, pg. 2. 


� American Medical Association Guide to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition.


� 06/12/2002 Chart Note – Addendum to 05/12/02 PPI, Dr. Johnston.


� Tylenol #3 is Tylenol, a pain medication, combined with codeine, a narcotic pain medication.  www.drugs.com.


� Amitriptyline is an antidepressant.  www.drugs.com


� 06/20/2002 Chart Note, Dr. Pulver.


� Dr. Pulver’s 9/4/02 clinic note.


� Id.


� Dr. Levine’s procedure note, 9/27/02.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic notes, 10/3 & 10/23/02.


� Zonegran is an antiseizure drug.  www.drugs.com.


� Id.


� Harold Cable, M.D.’s MRI report, 10/28/02.


� Dr. Pulver’s 12/11/02 clinic note.


� Id.


� 


� John McCormick, M.D.’s 12/13/02 MRI report.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 1/22/03.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 2/12/03.


� 02/24/2003 SIME report, Dr. Roth.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 02/25/2003 SIME report, Dr. Roth.


� Neurontin is an anti-epileptic medication, also called an anticonvulsant. It affects chemicals and nerves in the body that are involved in the cause of seizures and some types of pain.  www.drugs.com.


� AS 23.30.122.


� Dr. Peterson’s clinic note, 3/3/03.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 3/12/03.


� Tawnia Adams, D.C.’s C-spine x-ray report, 3/13/03.


� Id.


� D.C. Waldroup’s clinic notes, 3/14/03-6/18/03.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic note, 4/11/03.


� Dr. Boesenberg’s clinic note, 4/17/03.


� Id.


� Dr. Boesenberg’s clinic note, 5/1/03.


� Dr. Pulver’s 5/8/03 clinic note.


� Celexa is an antidepressant.  www.drugs.com.


� Id.


� Christopoher Kottra, M.D.’s MRI report.


� Id.


� Dr. Boesenberg’s clinic note, 5/23/03.


� C&R, Approved by the Board on 6/24/2003.  Employer’s hearing brief Exhibit C.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic notes, September, October and December, 2003.


� 03/08/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� Id.


� 03/26/2004 Electrodiagnostic Study, Dr. Pulver.


� Id.


� Dr. McCormick’s MRI reports, lumbar and cervical spine, 3/20/04.


� Id.


� 04/19/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Pulver.


� Id.


� 04/20/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� 04/27/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Levine.


� 05/05/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Chang.


� Id.


� 05/06/2004, 5/26/2004 and 6/9/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Pulver.


� Id.


� 06/16/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Chang.


� Id. 


� 06/24/2004 Chart Note, Alec Kay, P.T.


� Id.


� 07/21/2004 Chart Note, P.T. Kay.


� Id.


� 07/23/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Chang.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s 7/28/04 clinic note.


� 08/19/2004 Chart Note, P.T. Kay.


� 06/2004, 07/2004, 08/2004 and 09/29/2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Pulver.


� September, October and November 2004 Chart Notes, Dr. Pulver.


� An RS-1 interferential stimulator is a device that provides electrical stimulation to reduce pain.  www.rsmedical.com.


� 12/22/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Pulver.


� 01/21/2005 Chart Note, ANP Wilson.


� Id.


� 02/23/2004 Chart Note, Dr. Pulver


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s clinic notes, 3/04, 5/04 & 6/04.


� Dr. McCormick’s MRI report, 6/15/05.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s chart notes, 6/05-12/05.


� Lyrica is a medication used to treat seizures, nerve pain, and fibromyalgia.  www.drugs.com.


� Dr. Pulver’s chart note, 12/23/05.


� 12/05/05 Chart Note, Dr. Chang.


� Id.


� Dr. Chang’s operative report, 12/27/05.


� PT Karen Hansen’s initial evaluation, 2/20/06.


� Dr. Cable’s x-ray report, 3/8/06.


� Dr. Pulver’s chart note, 3/15/06.


� Id.


� Dr. Pulver’s chart note, 3/22/06.


� Dr. Chang’s chart note, 4/12/06.


� Dr. Levine’s chart note, 5/1/06.


� Dr. Cable’s MRI report, 5/2/06.


� Catapres is an antihypertensive.  Although not approved by the FDA for these purposes, Catapres has also been used to relieve alcohol withdrawal, as an aid in methadone and opiate detoxification.  www.drugs.com.


� PA Glenn’s chart note, 5/9/06.


� PT Hansen’s discharge summary, 5/30/06.


� 06/12/2006 Chart Note, Dr. Chang.


� PA Glenn’s clinic note, 7/10/06.


� PT Hansen’s discharge note, 7/14/06.


� 07/24/2006 Report of Mary Downs, M.D.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� 07/26/2006 Emergency Room Note, Alaska Regional, Dr. Sims.


� 07/26/2006 Radiology Report, Thomas Neveldine, D.O.


� 07/26/2006 CT report, C-Spine, Lester Lewis, D.O.


� 07/27/2006 Chiropractic Registration and History, Dr. Wheeler.


� Dr. Chang’s chart note, 8/9/06.


� TENS stands for transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation.  TENS is a pain control method.  www.drugs.com.


� PA Glenn’s clinic note, 8/24/06.


� PA Glenn’s clinic note, 9/21/06.


� PT Shauna Boquist’s evaluation, 9/27/06.


� Dr. Chang’s clinic note, 9/29/06.


� 10/24/2006 PCE Report, P.T. Blizzard.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� PA Glenn’s chart note, 9/21/06.


� 12/28/2006 Chart Notes, Dr. Levine.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 2.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 8.


� Lyrica is an anticonvulsant and is also used as a pain medication.  Lyrica also affects chemicals in the brain that send pain signals across the nervous system.  www.drugs.com.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 8.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pgs. 13-14.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 14.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 14.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 14.


� 03/17/2007 EME report of Dr. Bald, pg. 15.


� AS 23.30.122.


� WCC, 4/19/07.


� 05/09/2007 Chart Notes, Orthopedic Physician, Dr. Chang.


� 04/16/2008 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� 04/16/2008 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� 12/15/2008 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� 01/05/2009 Chart Notes, Dr. Chang.


� AS 23.30.122.


� 03/17/2009 Chart Note, Orthopedic Physicians, Dr. Voke.


� Ultracet is a pain medication, a combination of Tylenol or acetaminophen and tramadol.  www.drugs.com.


� Id.


� 05/17/2007 Chart note, Dr. Levine.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 47.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 47.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 48.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 58.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 59.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 67.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 63.


� 08/22/2009 SIME report of Dr. Lipon, pg. 63-66.


� LCSW Crawford’s letter, filed on 11/5/09.


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).


� Id. at 533.


� Id.


� Hester v. State, Pub. Employee’s Retirement Bd., 8187 P.2d 472 (Alaska 1991).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Carter v. B & B Construction, Op. No. 4808, pp. 10-11 (Alaska, June 27, 2008.); Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).  See also, Cheeks v. Wismer, 742 P.2d 239 (Alaska 1987).


� Id. at 675.


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 5 A. Larson & L. Larson, Larson’s Workers' Compensation Law, § 90.01 (2005).


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 5 A. Larson & L. Larson, Larson’s Workers' Compensation Law, § 90.01 (2005).


� Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989); Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


� Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).


� Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).


� Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044.


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.   


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 


� 617 P.2d 755 (Alaska 1980).


� Id.


� Id.


� Id. at 757.


� Id. 


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).
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